THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Sep 21 2022

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000938

Denise M. Petersen, individually and as
Trustee of the Denise M. Petersen 2005
Revocable Trust Dated November 9, 2005,
as Trustee of the 601 Ocean Boulevard
Residence Trust Dated November 30, 2012,
and as Trustee of the 601 Ocean Boulevard
Residence Trust II Dated December 7, 2012,Respondent,

v.

DCTCL, L.P., d/b/a Buffington Homes, L.P.,
Donnix Construction, LLC, Hunt Brothers
Construction, Inc., Island Exteriors and
Siding, Inc., Plastering Surfaces, LLC, a

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the arbitration clause in TAMKO's express limited warranty requires Plaintiff Petersen and Defendant/Crossclaimant Donnix (together, "Respondents"), as non-signatories to the warranty, to arbitrate their claims against Defendant TAMKO Building Products, LLC ("TAMKO").
- II. Whether the arbitration clause in TAMKO's express limited warranty requires a direct, written contract signed by Respondents in order to be enforceable against them.
- III. Whether TAMKO's arbitration clause is otherwise enforceable against Respondents under its terms.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This controversy arises from a construction defects lawsuit brought by Plaintiffs/Respondents Denise Petersen, individually and as a trustee of the Denise M. Peterson 2005 Revocable Trust dated November 9, 2005, as trustee of the 601 Ocean Boulevard Residence Trust dated November 30, 2012, and as trustee of the 601 Ocean Boulevard Residence Trust II dated December 7, 2012, (collectively, “Petersen”) against eleven named defendants, including Defendant/Appellant TAMKO Building Products, LLC (“TAMKO”), and forty-eight “John Doe Contractors.” The Third Amended Complaint, filed April 28, 2022, alleges multiple construction defects at Petersen’s multi-million-dollar beach house at Kiawah Island, South Carolina. *See generally* Third Amend. Compl. (“Compl.”). TAMKO manufactured the roofing underlayment, “TAMKO TW Metal and Tile Underlayment,” installed by roofing subcontractor Defendant/Crossclaimant/Respondent Donnix Construction, LLC (“Donnix”).¹ Compl. ¶ 30.

Petersen has sued TAMKO under theories of negligence/gross negligence, strict products liability and breach of warranty, claiming the underlayment was defectively designed and manufactured, because the polymer in the underlayment oozed out from under the shingles and stained the soffits and faciaboard. Compl. pp. 9-17. On May 10, 2022, Donnix crossclaimed against TAMKO for negligence/gross negligence, breach of implied contract, breach of express and implied warranties, equitable indemnity, and contribution, alleging essentially the same facts as alleged by Petersen. *See generally* Donnix Crossclaim.

¹ Underlayment is a synthetic fabric that is installed on top of a plywood roof deck, between the shingles or metal roofing materials and the deck, to provide a secondary layer of protection from the elements.

On May 11, 2022, TAMKO moved to dismiss both Petersen's claims and Donnix's crossclaims, and to compel arbitration, seeking to enforce the arbitration clause that is part of the express limited warranty provided with the underlayment. *See* TAMKO Motion to Dismiss.

On June 2, 2022, the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson heard arguments on TAMKO's motion. *See generally* Transcript of Oral Argument. At the hearing, the parties argued primarily over whether a contract exists between TAMKO and Donnix and between TAMKO and Petersen. *Id.* Although both Petersen and Donnix allege causes of action for breach of warranty arising from the sale of goods under the South Carolina Uniform Commercial Code, they nonetheless contend that they have no contract with TAMKO, and therefore cannot be compelled to arbitrate their claims.

On June 9, 2022, Judge Culbertson adopted in full the proposed order submitted by Petersen and Donnix, and denied TAMKO's Motion to Dismiss. *See* Order Denying Motion to Dismiss. On June 17, 2022, TAMKO moved under Rules 52(b), 59(e) and 60(b), SCRCF, for the trial court to reconsider, alter or amend its order denying TAMKO's motion to dismiss and compel arbitration. *See* TAMKO Motion to Reconsider. The court denied TAMKO's motion by form order.² *See* Order Denying Motion to Reconsider.

In so ruling, the trial court ignored the Federal Arbitration Act, controlling South Carolina case law, and common sense in order to find TAMKO's arbitration clause cannot be enforced against Donnix and Petersen (together, "Respondents"). The trial court's primary error was in

² At the hearing, the Court requested proposed orders from the Parties. Petersen and Donnix submitted essentially identical proposed orders on June 8, 2022. *See* Petersen and Donnix proposed orders. TAMKO's proposed order was submitted on June 9, 2022. *See* TAMKO proposed order. On the same day that TAMKO's proposed order was filed, the Court adopted Petersen and Donnix's order verbatim, including typographical errors and misstatements of the record. *Id.* This was pointed out by TAMKO in its Motion to Reconsider, to no avail.

failing to acknowledge that the enumerated reasons for enforcing the arbitration clause against non-signatories exists in this common commercial setting. The practical effect of the trial court's ruling is that an arbitration clause in an express warranty (that this very Court has previously upheld as enforceable)³ which accompanies the sale of a product used in the construction of a dwelling can never be enforced against a non-signatory to the arbitration clause. This is manifestly not the law in South Carolina. Accordingly, TAMKO timely served its Notice of Appeal on July 7, 2022.

FACTS

On July 18, 2015, Petersen entered into a written contract with DCTCL, L.P. d/b/a Buffington Homes, L.P. ("Buffington") to build her residence. *See generally* July 8, 2015 Contract between Buffington and Petersen ("Buffington Contract"). Buffington was the general contractor, and subcontracted with Donnix to install the roof and related flashings and waterproofing. *See generally* March 9, 2016 Subcontract Agreement between Donnix and Buffington ("Subcontract Agreement"). Donnix purchased and installed the TAMKO underlayment which Petersen alleges is defective. Compl. ¶ 21. These tiered relationships are typical in residential construction. The general contractor hires subcontractors for particular aspects of the construction. The subcontractors order materials needed for their respective piece of the construction from a building supply company (the distributor). The distributor orders the material (as the case is here – TAMKO underlayment) from the manufacturer. Payment works the same way. The subcontractor pays the distributor, which in turn pays the manufacturer. The subcontractor bills the general contractor, and the general contractor bills the property owner, or includes the materials in the overall contract price.

³ *See One Belle Hall Property Owners Association, Inc. v. Trammell Crow Residential Co.*, 418 S.C. 51, 59, 791 S.E.2d 286, 291 (Ct. App. 2016).

Here, Donnix purchased the TAMKO underlayment in three separate purchases from ABC Supply Co., Inc. *See* ABC Supply Co. Purchase Order Invoices, Invoice Nos. 52062460, 51973240, 52102388 (together, the “Purchase Order Invoices”). Each invoice expressly states in the “Purchase Agreement Terms and Conditions of Sale” that the distributor will “assign or transfer to [Donnix] any assignable or transferable manufacturer’s warranties, if any, applicable to the purchase, in lieu of all other warranties, express or implied.” *Id.* p. 2, ¶ 11.

Similarly, the contract between Petersen and Buffington specifically states that all warranties relating to building materials used in the construction of the house are transferred to the homeowner: “Buffington Homes assigns the owner all such manufacturers’ guarantees and/or warranties.” Buffington Contract p. 5. Petersen is a signatory to that contract. *Id.* p. 7. Accordingly, the warranty accompanying the underlayment is specifically passed on to Donnix and ultimately to Petersen.

TAMKO is a manufacturer and supplier of roof shingles and related products, supplying them throughout the United States and internationally to independent distributors, which then sell the products to roofing contractors. *Aff. of G. Ross*, ¶¶ 3-6. TAMKO does not sell products directly to consumers. *Id.* TAMKO’s underlayment is manufactured in Joplin, Missouri. *Id.* Distributors who wish to purchase the product must submit a purchase order to TAMKO’s Customer Services Department in Joplin. *Id.* When TAMKO receives an order for the underlayment, the product is packaged in Joplin and shipped to the distributor’s location. *Id.* As is the case with any TAMKO product sold into South Carolina, the sale of the underlayment at issue necessarily involves both the product and payment crossing state lines because there are no TAMKO manufacturing facilities, warehouses, or distribution centers in the State. *Id.* ¶ 7. Thus, TAMKO’s sale of the underlayment implicates interstate commerce.

The TAMKO underlayment is accompanied by a limited warranty, the terms of which are available to customers at the time of sale on TAMKO's website, and printed on the wrapper of each package of underlayment. *Id.* ¶ 8. The limited warranty includes an express provision requiring all disputes related to the underlayment to be submitted to mandatory binding arbitration:

MANDATORY BINDING ARBITRATION:

EVERY CLAIM, CONTROVERSY, OR DISPUTE OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER (EACH AN "ACTION") BETWEEN YOU AND TAMKO (INCLUDING ANY OF TAMKO'S EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS) RELATING TO OR ARISING OUT OF THE PRODUCT SHALL BE RESOLVED BY FINAL AND BINDING ARBITRATION, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE ACTION SOUNDS IN WARRANTY, CONTRACT, STATUTE OR ANY OTHER LEGAL OR EQUITABLE THEORY. TO ARBITRATE AN ACTION AGAINST TAMKO, YOU MUST INITIATE THE ARBITRATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE RULES OF ARBITRATION OF THE AMERICAN ARBITRATION ASSOCIATION (WHICH ARE AVAILABLE ONLINE AT www.adr.com OR BY CALLING THE AMERICAN ARBITRATION ASSOCIATION AT 1-800-778-7879) AND PROVIDE WRITTEN NOTICE TO TAMKO BY CERTIFIED MAIL AT P.O. BOX 1404, JOPLIN, MISSOURI 64802 WITHIN THE TIME PERIOD PRESCRIBED IMMEDIATELY BELOW.

Id.; see also TAMKO Warranty p. 2 (emphasis in original).

The limited warranty also expressly disclaims implied warranties to the extent allowed by state law:

LEGAL REMEDIES: EXCEPT WHERE PROHIBITED BY LAW, THE OBLIGATION CONTAINED IN THIS LIMITED WARRANTY IS EXPRESSLY IN LIEU OF ANY AND ALL OTHER OBLIGATIONS, GUARANTEES, WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OR CONDITIONS OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND OF ANY OTHER OBLIGATION OR WARRANTY ON THE PART OF TAMKO.

TAMKO Warranty p. 2 (emphasis in original). The limited warranty provides that it extends to the building owner, and has a term of one year from the date of purchase. *Id.* It also contains a savings

clause that explains that the terms of the limitations are enforceable only to the extent permitted by applicable state law:

SOME STATES AND PROVINCES DO NOT ALLOW EXCLUSION OR LIMITATION OF IMPLIED WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS OR INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, SO THE ABOVE LIMITATIONS OR EXCLUSIONS MAY NOT APPLY TO YOU. NO ACTION FOR BREACH OF THIS LIMITED WARRANTY OR ANY OTHER ACTION RELATING TO OR ARISING OUT OF THE PRODUCT, ITS PURCHASE OR THIS TRANSACTION SHALL BE BROUGHT LATER THAN ONE YEAR AFTER ANY CAUSE OF ACTION HAS ACCRUED. IN JURISDICTIONS WHERE STATUTORY CLAIMS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS CANNOT BE EXCLUDED, ALL SUCH STATUTORY CLAIMS, IMPLIED WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS AND ALL RIGHTS TO BRING ACTIONS FOR BREACH THEREOF EXPIRE ONE YEAR (OR SUCH LONGER PERIOD OF TIME IF MANDATED BY APPLICABLE LAWS) AFTER THE DATE OF PURCHASE. SOME STATES AND PROVINCES DO NOT ALLOW LIMITATIONS ON HOW LONG IMPLIED WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS LAST, SO THE ABOVE LIMITATION MAY NOT APPLY TO YOU.

Id. (emphasis in original).

Petersen alleges that the underlayment installed on her residence “prematurely fail[ed] and deteriorates and allows water to intrude into the building.” Compl. ¶ 60. Donnix casts full blame on TAMKO, alleging that Petersen’s damages “were dule solely to the actions of TAMKO...” Crossclaim ¶ 133. Neither Petersen nor Donnix initiated arbitration in accordance with this arbitration clause and refuse to arbitrate their claims.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court’s denial of TAMKO’s motion to compel arbitration is immediately appealable. *Towles v. United Healthcare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 35, 524 S.E.2d 839, 842 (Ct. App. 1999). The question of arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination, *de novo*. *One Belle Hall Property Owners Association, Inc. v. Trammell Crow Residential Co.*, 418 S.C. 51, 59, 791 S.E.2d 286, 291 (Ct. App. 2016).

ARGUMENT

I. Respondents, Non-Signatories to TAMKO's Express Limited Warranty, are Required to Arbitrate their Claims Pursuant to the Warranty's Arbitration Clause.

In determining whether to enforce an arbitration clause, the trial court must first determine whether there is an agreement to arbitrate between the parties that covers the claims asserted in the lawsuit. *See, e.g., U.S. ex rel. Coastal Roofing Co, Inc. v. P. Browne & Assoc., Inc.*, 585 F.Supp.2d 708, 712 (D.S.C. 2007) (“A district court therefore has no choice but to grant a motion to compel arbitration where a valid arbitration agreement exists and the issues in a case fall within its purview.”) (citing *United States v. Bankers Inc. Co.*, 245 F.3d 315, 319 (4th Cir. 2001)). Here, the trial court accepted Respondents' contention that because there is no direct, signed contract between TAMKO and Petersen, and TAMKO and Donnix, that the analysis ends there. But the analysis cannot end there – indeed, it does not even start there. As both the Fourth Circuit and South Carolina courts have consistently held, non-signatories can be required to arbitrate their claims even when there is no direct written agreement between the parties.

A. Equitable Estoppel Binds Respondents to the Arbitration Provision in TAMKO's Express Limited Warranty.

Federal Circuit Courts (including the Fourth Circuit), applying the Federal Arbitration Act, have recognized five theories which provide a basis for binding nonsignatories to arbitration agreements: “(1) incorporation by reference; (2) assumption; (3) agency; (4) veil piercing/alter ego; and (5) estoppel.” *International Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH*, 206 F.3d 411, 416-17 (4th Cir. 2000) (citing cases).⁴

⁴ Federal law applies to determine the applicability of TAMKO's arbitration clause to Respondents. *See International Paper Co.*, 206 F.3d at 417 n. 4 (“[S]tate law determines questions concerning the validity, revocability, or enforceability of contracts generally, but the Federal Arbitration Act...creates a body of federal substantive law of arbitrability, applicable to any arbitration agreement within the coverage of the Act.”).

Equitable estoppel requires Respondents arbitrate their claims because they have sued TAMKO for, among other things, breach of express (Donnix's crossclaim) and implied (Petersen's claim) warranties:

In the arbitration context, the doctrine [of equitable estoppel] recognizes that a party may be estopped from asserting that the lack of his signature on a written contract precludes enforcement of the contract's arbitration clause when he has consistently maintained that other provisions of the same contract should be enforced to benefit him. To allow a plaintiff to claim the benefit of the contract and simultaneously avoid its burdens would both disregard equity and contravene the purposes underlying enactment of the Arbitration Act.

International Paper Co., 206 F.3d at 418 (internal quotations and citations omitted). "The very essence of equitable estoppel is to prevent a party from taking one position when it is to that party's advantage, and taking the opposite position when it is to that party's disadvantage." *U.S. ex rel. Coastal Roofing Co.*, 585 F.Supp.2d at 715. Despite TAMKO pointing this out in its Motion to Dismiss, its reply, at the hearing, in its proposed order, and in its Motion to Reconsider, the Court accepted Respondents' assertion that "no contract existed" between each of them and TAMKO, while ignoring that each of their causes of action for breach of contractual duties can only exist if there are express and implied warranties to begin with.

Donnix has crossclaimed against TAMKO for breach of both express and implied warranty. It is manifestly inequitable to permit Donnix to both claim that TAMKO is liable to Donnix for its alleged failure to perform under warranty theories, and at the same time deny that Donnix is a party to the express warranty in order to avoid arbitration of claims clearly within the ambit of the arbitration clause. *See* Crossclaim ¶ 128 ("TAMKO expressly and/or impliedly warranted to [Petersen] that [sic] any materials and/or services designed, supplied or sold by them for use on the project would be merchantable and fit for their intended or specific purpose.").

Petersen has (perhaps artfully) sued TAMKO for breach of implied warranty, as well as tort claims – strict liability and negligence. *See* Compl. ¶¶ 52-73. Petersen’s argument that she is not suing TAMKO for breach of express warranty does not allow her to duck the terms of the express warranty that limits the implied warranty she is suing under. *See* TAMKO Warranty p. 2 (“LEGAL REMEDIES: EXCEPT WHERE PROHIBITED BY LAW, THE OBLIGATION[] CONTAINED IN THIS LIMITED WARRANTY IS EXPRESSLY IN LIEU OF ANY AND ALL OTHER OBLIGATIONS GUARANTEES, WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES....”). If all Petersen had to do to avoid any disclaimer of implied warranty, or any other terms of the express warranty she did not like, was to sue only for breach of implied warranty, no limitations of implied warranty would ever be enforceable. *See Myrtle Beach Pipeline Corp. v. Emerson Elec. Co.*, 843 F.Supp. 1027, 1036-40 (D.S.C. 1993) (applying South Carolina law, holding that the Uniform Commercial Code clearly provides for express disclaimers of implied warranties).

The facts presented here are remarkably similar to those in *Krusch v. TAMKO Building Products, Inc.*, 34 F.Supp.3d 584 (M.D.N.C. 2014).⁵ In *Krusch*, plaintiff Edward Krusch purchased TAMKO shingles from Roofing Supply Group for his roof. Soon after installation, the shingles began to discolor and deteriorate. An express fifty-year limited warranty accompanied the shingles, which Krusch alleged he did not know about and never signed. Krusch sued TAMKO for breach of implied and express warranties. TAMKO and Roofing Supply Group moved to stay the action and compel arbitration based on the warranty’s arbitration provision. Krusch argued he could not be compelled to arbitrate because he never agreed to the limited warranty. TAMKO

⁵ Although *Krusch* was decided under North Carolina law, the analysis applies the Uniform Commercial Code (which is the same as South Carolina’s), and the Federal Arbitration Act (which also must be applied here).

contended Krusch agreed to the arbitration provision in the limited warranty, even though it was undisputed neither Krusch nor anyone on his behalf ever signed it. TAMKO asserted agreements to arbitrate need not be signed to be accepted, and that Krusch agreed to the arbitration provision in the limited warranty because he had notice of the warranty (both personally and through his contractor), made repeated purchases of the shingles, and subsequently sued TAMKO for breach of the limited warranty. The Court agreed with TAMKO, noting that “as a preliminary matter, the lack of Krusch’s signature on the limited warranty is not dispositive of whether he agreed to it. Arbitration agreements must be in writing, but they need not be signed to be enforceable.” *Krusch*, 34 F.Supp.3d at 589 (additional citations omitted). The Court correctly focused on “the crucial question [which is] whether Krusch agreed to the limited warranty, which included the arbitration provision.” *Id.* TAMKO produced evidence that Roofing Supply Group gave Krusch’s contractor a sample shingle which contained notice of TAMKO’s limited warranty on each shingle.⁶ The Court held Krusch assented to the arbitration: “Krusch, having constructive notice of the limited warranty, which included an arbitration provision, agreed to purchase shingles that were expressly subject to that arbitration provision.” *Id.* at 589-90.

Here, Respondents had constructive notice of TAMKO’s express limited warranty, through the terms of the subcontractor agreements and purchase orders among the parties for the construction of Petersen’s residence, and the provisions in the respective sales documents and contracts assigning all manufacturers’ warranties. *See* Purchase Order Invoices p. 2; Buffington

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