RECEIVED

Jul 28 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000938

---

Denise M. Petersen, individually and as Trustee of the Denise M. Petersen 2005 Recovable Trust Dated November 9, 2005, as Trustee of the 601 Ocean Boulevard Residence Trust Dated November 30, 2012, and as Trustee of the 601 Ocean Boulevard Residence Trust II Dated December 7, 2012, Plaintiffs,

v.

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Donnix Did Not Enter Into a Contact with TAMKO Submitting Claims to Arbitration Because there Was No Meeting of The Minds Between the Parties Regarding an Arbitration Clause**

“[A]rbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit.” *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 400 S.C. 281, 288, 733 S.E.2d 597, 600 (Ct. App. 2012). Courts have held that mutual assent and a meeting of the minds is necessary for an enforceable arbitration agreement. *Simpson* 373 S.C. 14, at 24, (“[A]rbitration is a matter of contract law and is available only when the parties involved contractually agreed to arbitrate.”). South Carolina law requires that “in order to have a valid and enforceable contract, there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement.” *Grant v. Magnolia Manor-Greenwood, Inc.* 383 S.C. 125, 678 S.E.2d 435 (2009). Likewise, Arbitration “is predicated on an agreement to arbitrate because parties are waiving their fundamental right to access to the courts.” *Wilson v. Willis*, 426

S.C. 326, 827 S.E.2d 167 (S.C. 2019), citing *E.E.O.C. v. Waffle House, Inc.*, 534 U.S. 279, 294, 122 S.Ct. 754, 151 L.Ed.2d 755 (2002) (recognizing that arbitration "is a matter of consent, not coercion" (citation omitted)); *Arrants v. Buck*, 130 F.3d 636, 640 (4th Cir. 1997) ("Even though arbitration has a favored place, *there still must be an underlying agreement between the parties to arbitrate.*") (emphasis added).

Here, Donnix and TAMKO never entered into a contract containing an arbitration provision, ergo there cannot have been any meeting of the minds to give rise to an enforceable agreement to arbitrate the disputes herein. *Pearson*, supra. Additionally, there was no meeting of the minds where Donnix waived its' fundamental right to access to the courts. The only evidence provided by TAMKO of the alleged binding arbitration agreement is Tamko's limited warranty, which was *not* accompanied with the Purchase Order Invoices. However, TAMKO fails to establish that the limited warranty was part of an enforceable agreement between Donnix, as it was never signed by any parties. Further, the limited warranty does not even specify what TAMKO product it applies to. The section on the warranty where the applicable product should have been listed is left blank, further rendering the arbitration clause contained within the limited warranty as unenforceable. There is no ascertainable way to establish the limited warranty TAMKO references even concerns the construction of Plaintiffs' residence.

Moreover, an almost identical motion was filed by TAMKO in the 10<sup>th</sup> Circuit, in *Nelson v. TAMKO Building Prods., Inc.*, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 75597, 2015 WL 3649384, (D. Kan. June 11, 2015). In this case, TAMKO filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration of Plaintiffs' claims citing there was a binding arbitration clause in the limited warranty attached to the shingles installed on the residence. *Id.* Here, the court determined TAMKO failed to establish that the limited warranty was part of an enforceable agreement between the Plaintiffs and TAMKO because it was

unauthenticated. Accordingly, Tamko's motion was denied. *Id.* at 4. Similarly in this case, TAMKO has merely attached the unauthenticated and unexecuted limited warranty to its Memorandum in support of its' Motion to Compel Arbitration in an attempt to assert there has been a meeting of the minds between Donnix and TAMKO regarding an arbitration agreement. However, this is not sufficient to prove a meeting of the minds occurred, as the warranty is wholly unexecuted and does not specify the applicable TAMKO product the warranty pertains to. TAMKO has not submitted evidence sufficient to establish an enforceable agreement to arbitrate, therefore Donnix cannot be compelled to arbitration.

**A. The Federal Arbitration Act is Inapplicable Because There is Not a Valid and Enforceable Arbitration Agreement Between Donnix and Tamko**

The Federal Arbitration Act (the "FAA applies") when the party seeking arbitration can demonstrate "(1) the existence of a dispute between the parties, (2) a written agreement that includes an arbitration provision which purports to cover the dispute, (3) the relationship of the transaction, which is evidenced by the agreement, to interstate or foreign commerce, and (4) the failure, neglect or refusal of [a party] to arbitrate the dispute." *Am. Gen. Life & Accident Ins. CO. v. Wood*, 429 F.3d 83, 87 (4th Cir. 2005). In determining whether the FAA applies, the initial inquiry to be made by the court is whether an arbitration agreement exists between the parties. *The Housing Authority of City of Columbia v. Cornerstone Housing, LLC*, 356 S.C. 328, 588 S.E.2d 617 (Ct. App. 2003). Arbitration is a matter of contract and the evaluation of the enforceability of an arbitration agreement is guided by general principles of contract law. *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 364 (2001). In order to have a valid and enforceable contract, there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the contract. *Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891 (1989).

As previously discussed, there was no meeting of the minds between Donnix and TAMKO regarding the arbitration clause and Donnix did not waive its' right to access the courts. Since the FAA is guided by the general principles of contract law, and TAMKO has not submitted evidence sufficient to establish an enforceable agreement to arbitrate, the arbitration clause does not meet the requirements of the FAA. The issue of interstate commerce does not need to be discussed, as there is no enforceable agreement between TAMKO and Donnix regarding arbitration.

**B. While A Contract for the Sale of Goods Exists Between TAMKO a Donnix, This Contract Does Not Contain a Binding Arbitration Clause.**

Donnix does not deny the Purchase Order Invoices, evidence the Sale of Goods Between TAMKO and Donnix. However, the Purchase Order Invoices do not contain the binding arbitration clause TAMKO argues Donnix is bound by. In fact, a recent decision from the South Carolina Supreme court held, “In conducting an unconscionability inquiry, courts *may only consider the provisions of the arbitration agreement itself, and not those of the whole contract.* *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, No. 28114, 2022 S.C. LEXIS 107, at \*1 (Sep. 14, 2022) (emphasis added). Thus, the court must look to the provisions of the arbitration agreement itself when determining whether it is valid, rather than the contract as a whole. Again, Donnix and TAMKO never entered a contract containing an arbitration provision. Additionally, there was no meeting of the minds where Donnix waived its' fundamental right to access to the courts. Accordingly, Tamko's Motion to Compel Arbitration should be denied as matter of law. The Trial court agreed with this argument and rightfully denied TAMKO'S Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration.

**II. Donnix is a Non-Signatory to the Arbitration Clause And Cannot be Bound Because it Receives No Direct Benefit from the Provision**

Whether an arbitration agreement may be enforced against nonsignatories, and under what circumstances, is an issue controlled by state law. *See Arthur Andersen LLP v. Carlisle*, 556 U.S.

624, 630-31, 630 n.5, 129 S. Ct. 1896, 173 L. Ed. 2d 832 (2009). South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) estoppel. *Malloy v. Thompson*, 409 S.C. 557, 561-62, 762 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2014); *see also Pearson*, 400 S.C. 281 at 289, (discussing federal decisions setting forth five theories that could provide a basis to bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements). TAMKO asserts the theory of estoppel provides justification for compelling Donnix to arbitration. Specifically, under the doctrine of estoppel, TAMKO asserts Donnix had a constructive notice of the arbitration clause and receives a direct benefit from the same.

**A. Donnix Lacked Constructive Notice of the Arbitration Provision in Tamko's Limited Warranty**

Constructive Notice is defined as “notice imputed to a person whose knowledge of facts is sufficient to put him on inquiry; if these facts were pursued with due diligence, they would lead to other undisclosed facts.” *Strother v. Lexington Cty. Recreation Comm'n*, 332 S.C. 54, 63 n.6, 504 S.E.2d 117, 122 n.6 (1998). TAMKO relies on *Krusch v. TAMKO Building Products, Inc.*, 34 F.Supp.3d 584 (M.D.N.C. 2014), as proof that Donnix had constructive notice of its’ binding arbitration clause. However, in *Krusch* the facts show the Plaintiff received a copy of the limited warranty containing the arbitration clause *before* completing the sale, which is the opposite of what occurred in this present case. TAMKO does not deny the fact that the limited warranty containing the arbitration clause was only supplied to Donnix after the sale had been completed and the products were delivered to the Peterson residence. At no point prior to the sale, was the arbitration clause provided to Donnix. It is inequitable to assert Donnix had inquiry notice of the existence of an arbitration clause when Donnix was only ever supplied the binding arbitration clause it was alleged to be bound by after the sale had been completed.

**B. Donnix Has Not Knowingly Exploited the Benefits of the Arbitration Clause and the Limited Warranty is Unconscionable**

The framework for invoking equitable estoppel as a basis for compelling a nonsignatory to arbitration, is often referred to the direct benefit test. *Wilson*, 416 S.C., at 418. This framework was utilized in a prior court of appeals decision, *Pearson*, which applied the federal test as set forth in *International Paper Co.* "[u]nder the direct benefits theory of estoppel, a nonsignatory may be compelled to arbitrate where the nonsignatory 'knowingly exploits' the benefits of an agreement containing an arbitration clause, and receives benefits flowing directly from the agreement." *Wilson* at, 340-41.

Here, TAMKO has not established what direct benefit Donnix is enjoying from the limited warranty containing the binding arbitration clause. In fact, subjecting Donnix to binding arbitration unlawfully abrogates Donnix's constitutional right to a jury trial. The right to a jury trial under the Seventh Amendment is a fundamental one, but it "can be *knowingly and intelligently* waived by contract." *Leasing Serv. Corp. v. Crane*, 804 F.2d 828, 832 (4th Cir. 1986) (emphasis added). Accordingly, the Fourth Circuit has held that a party seeking to enforce a contractual provision waiving the right to a jury trial must establish that the waiver was *knowing and voluntary*. *Leasing Serv. Corp.*, 804 F.2d at 833. Here, Donnix has not knowingly or voluntarily waived its' constitutional right to a jury. As TAMKO'S own brief states, "The very essence of equitable estoppel is to prevent a party from taking one position when it is to that party's advantage, and taking the opposite position when it is to that party's disadvantage." *United States ex rel. Coastal Roofing Co. v. P. Browne & Assocs.*, 585 F. Supp. 2d 708, 715 (D.S.C. 2007). TAMKO is asserting for Donnix to be provided an express warranty it must agree to the terms of the binding arbitration clause, including the waiver of a jury trial, despite only being provided these provisions after completing the sale, when such terms cannot be altered.

At its core, unconscionability is defined "as the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms which are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them." *Id.* at 16, citing *Fanning v. Fritz's Pontiac-Cadillac-Buick, Inc.*, 322 S.C. 399, 403, 472 S.E.2d 242, 245 (1996); *see also* 17A Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 272 (2016). This is exactly what TAMKO has done by providing an arbitration clause to Donnix after the sale had been completed. TAMKO forces Donnix to waive its right to a jury trial without its' express consent, which makes the binding arbitration clause within the limited warranty unconscionable. Accordingly, the mandatory arbitration clause within the limited warranty cannot be enforced against Donnix.

### **III. Donnix Should Not Be Compelled to Arbitration Due to Concerns for Expedience or Judicial Economy**

The Court should not simply enforce their own views of judicial economy and efficiency on the parties where there has been no agreement to arbitrate. *Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. v. Byrd*, 470 U.S. 213, 217 (1985) (internal citations omitted) ("The FAA, both through its plain meaning and the strong federal policy it reflects, requires courts to enforce the bargain of the parties to arbitrate, and not to substitute its own views of economy and efficiency for those of Congress."). There must be a valid agreement to arbitrate, even if the outcome results in bifurcated proceedings. *Id.*, 470 U.S. at 221.

South Carolina has held that courts cannot refuse to enforce an otherwise valid arbitration provision on the basis of judicial economy. *Wellman, Inc. v. Square D Co.*, 366 S.C. 61, 71, 620 S.E.2d 86, 90 (Ct. App. 2005). The inverse of *Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. and Wellman, Inc.* should also be true. If a court cannot deny a motion to compel arbitration where a valid provision exists for reasons of judicial economy, then a court should not be able to require a party to arbitrate claims where no agreement to arbitrate exists. After all, "arbitration is a matter of contract and a

party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit.” *Pearson*, 400 S.C., at 288. While this may result in litigation and arbitration of “intertwined issues”, “[a]ny inefficiency or risk of inconsistent results is a consequence of the parties’ bargaining.” *Wellman, Inc.* 366 S.C. at 70, 620 S.E.2d at 91. Otherwise, a party could compel anyone into arbitration, despite the absence of a valid arbitration provision, simply by including a party in the suit that is subject to a valid arbitration agreement. *See Id.* at 70–71, 620 S.E.2d at 91.

Here, it is evident Donnix never entered an agreement to submit its’ claims against TAMKO to arbitration. Since there is no valid arbitration agreement between Donnix and Tamko, it would hinder judicial economy to compel Donnix to arbitration. Therefore, Tamko’s Motion to Compel Arbitration should be denied as matter of law.

### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should uphold the order of the trial court dismissing TAMKO's Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration because Donnix and TAMKO never entered into a contract where there was a meeting of the minds regarding the terms of the arbitration clause or where Donnix agreed to waive its’ right to a jury. Furthermore, the arbitration clause is unconscionable because the limited warranty containing the arbitration clause was only supplied to Donnix after the sale had been completed, the products were delivered to the Peterson residence, and the terms of the arbitration clause could not be altered.

Boldly TAMKO blames the rulings of trial court for the delay in the disposition of this case, and refuses to acknowledge the fact its’ own appeal, filed after receiving two denials of its’ motion, is the root cause in the delay. Accordingly, Donnix respectfully asks this Court to affirm the trial court’s rulings and to deny Tamko’s Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration.